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Monday, December 12, 2011


--- On commencing at 9:43 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.

The Board is sitting today in the matter of the application EB-2011-0273 submitted by Grimsby Power Incorporated for an order or orders approving rates for the distribution of electricity to be effective January 1st, 2012.

My name is Marika Hare and I will be presiding member in this hearing.  Joining me on the Panel is Board member Cathy Spoel.

Following interrogatories and a settlement conference between interested parties, on December 7th, 2011 the Board received a proposed settlement agreement as agreed to by Grimsby Power Inc., Energy Probe, School Energy Coalition, and the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  This was a partial settlement agreement, in that one issue, OM&A, was not included in the settlement.

On December 9th, the Board issued a decision on the partial settlement agreement in which the Board accepted the partial settlement agreement and set out the procedural matters relating to the one unsettled issue.

This hearing will provide the Board and parties with an opportunity to fully examine the evidence on the operations maintenance and administration proposed budget.

May I take appearances, please?
Appearances


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is James Sidlofsky, counsel to Grimsby Power.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. LANNI:  Madam Chair, Richard Lanni, counsel to the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant to Energy Probe.  With me is David MacIntosh.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

I understand we have one procedural matter relating to a request for confidentiality that was filed on Friday.  Mr. Sidlofsky, could you speak to that, please?
Preliminary Matters


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I can, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

Among the technical conference questions in this matter was a request that Grimsby Power provide a copy of its shareholders' agreement.  That is an agreement among the Corporation of the Town of Grimsby, Niagara Power Incorporated, Fortis Ontario Inc. and Grimsby Power Incorporated.

Grimsby Power was prepared to provide a copy of the shareholders' agreement to parties that had executed the Board's form of confidentiality undertaking.  The reasons for the confidentiality request were set out in the public response to that question that was filed last week.

Perhaps I could just read from that response.  I think that will give you an indication of Grimsby's concerns with the document.

Grimsby Power Inc. is owned, in part, by Fortis Ontario, and Fortis is an investor-owned utility.  Fortis is a corporation which is engaged in competitive businesses and has invested in a number of Ontario distributors.

The disclosure of the terms of the agreement could, in Grimsby Power's submission, reasonably be expected to prejudice the economic interests of Fortis Ontario, in that it would enable Fortis's competitors to ascertain the terms under which they're prepared to invest in a local distribution company in Ontario.

Grimsby has been asked by Fortis Ontario to retain the -- or maintain the confidentiality of the shareholders' agreement.  And the -- as far as Grimsby's comments with respect to the Board's practice direction on confidential filings, Grimsby submits that the Board's practice direction recognizes that these are among the factors that the Board will take into consideration when addressing the confidentiality filings, and they're also addressed in section 17(1) of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

And the practice direction notes, at appendix C of the direction, that third party information described in subsection 17(1) of FIPPA is among the types of information previously assessed or maintained by the Board as confidential.

Accordingly, Grimsby is requesting that the shareholders' agreement remain in confidence.  Grimsby has indicated that it's prepared to provide copies of the agreement to individuals that - is counsel and consultants - that have executed the Board's form of undertaking.

At this point, Mr. Shepherd is the only representative that has executed the form.  I don't believe that Mr. Buonaguro or Mr. Aiken or Mr. MacIntosh have any concerns about executing the declaration.  I am not sure that they have done that yet, though.

Grimsby did provide a copy of the agreement to Mr. Shepherd following receipt of -- actually, last week, I'm sorry.  Mr. Shepherd had previously provided a copy of the signed declaration.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, do you actually need this shareholders' agreement for the purposes of your cross-examination?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.

We agreed, by the way, it should be confidential.  There is no question in our minds that it sets out a business strategy in fairly clear terms that should remain confidential.

We expect the in camera section of our cross-examination to be no more than five minutes, just to get a couple of facts on the table, and then the applicant has agreed that the additional things we want to ask about that, we talked about what they are, and extracted some information, and the applicant has agreed they would not be confidential.

So we have taken most of the cross and said, Let's treat this as not confidential and here is the small kernel that needs to still be confidential.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  And then I would just like to follow up with Mr. Aiken, Mr. Buonaguro, Mr. MacIntosh.

You hadn't executed the confidentiality agreement.  Is your intention to do so, or you don't need to be part of that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have no problem signing the confidentiality agreement.

MR. AIKEN:  The same thing with Mr. MacIntosh and myself.
DECISION


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Just give us a moment.  Please.

The Panel agrees that the document will be treated as a confidential document.  And for the amount of time, we will go in camera when that -- when those questions are being examined.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  So with that, Mr. Sidlofsky, would you introduce your panel, please, and they will be sworn in?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair --


MS. HARE:  Sorry, any other preliminary matters?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  As it happens, there are just two preliminary matters.  I have provided copies of the CVs of the witness panel, Mr. Doug Curtiss and Ms. Mioara Domokos, the two-member witness panel for Grimsby this morning.

If we could have those entered as an exhibit, I would appreciate that.

MR. LANNI:  That would be Exhibit K1.1, CV for Doug Curtiss and Mioara Domokos.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CVS OF D. CURTISS AND M. DOMOKOS.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  The other preliminary matter has arisen very recently, and I don't believe it is particularly problematic since OM&A is obviously still outstanding in this proceeding.

In the settlement proposal that was filed last week and approved by the Board, there is an appendix A which sets out changes to the application resulting from the settlement.

I am not sure that it is totally necessary to refer to the settlement proposal.  My comment, though, is simply that appendix remains accurate.  One item that, I believe it will be Ms. Domokos on the witness panel, will be speaking to is the fact that in the -- in appendix J to the settlement agreement, that contains a copy of Grimsby Power's revenue requirement work form.

Now, it is assuming OM&A based on Grimsby Power's request, subject to a couple of changes that were in appendix A.  The problem is a couple of the OM&A-related changes found in appendix A were not worked through the revenue requirement work form.  So there will have to be a change to that form.  Depending on the Board's determination of the OM&A issue, that form may be changing in any event, but Grimsby Power is certainly prepared to make that change in the context of its draft rate order that will reflect the decision.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I just have a few preliminary comments, and then I will put the witness panel up.


MS. HARE:  Please proceed.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

GRIMSBY POWER INC. - PANEL 1

Presentation of Settlement Agreement by Mr. Sidlofsky


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, Grimsby Power owns and operates the electricity distribution system within its licensed service area of 67 square kilometres in the Town of Grimsby.  Grimsby Power serves approximately 10,062 customers.


In August of this year, Grimsby Power filed its cost-of-service application for 2012 electricity distribution rates, effective January 1st, 2012.


In its application, Grimsby Power sought approval to charge rates effective January 1st, to recover a service revenue requirement of approximately $4.58 million.  After revenue offsets of approximately $339,000, the base revenue requirement was approximately $4.24 million.


As initially filed, the application indicated a revenue deficiency of approximately $800,000.


Energy Probe, the School Energy Coalition and VECC requested and were granted intervenor status.


The settlement conference in the proceeding concluded on November 24th with a comprehensive partial settlement, and all matters with the exception of certain matters relating to OM&A have been settled.


Grimsby Power wishes to note that it appreciates the Board's prompt review and approval of the settlement proposal filed on December 7th.  I thank you.


Appendix J is the revenue requirement work form, and as I mentioned, there are two changes that will be addressed by Ms. Domokos in her evidence-in-chief.


I should note that the assumption in the settlement agreement of OM&A as filed is not intended by any of the parties to be indicative of the appropriateness of that OM&A amount or any of its components or impacts, but is instead a placeholder pending the Board's determination on that issue.  Customer bill impacts on that basis are 3.71 percent for a residential customer consuming 800 kilowatts of electricity per month, and 1.02 percent for a GS-under-50 kilowatt customer consuming 2,000 kilowatt hours of electricity per month.


The parties have agreed that the effective date of the rates arising out of the proposed agreement and the Board's decision on OM&A should be January 1st, 2012.


If the Board's decision on Grimsby Power's rates cannot be implemented for January 1st, Grimsby Power will calculate a rate rider for the remainder of the test year that will enable Grimsby to recover the difference between its incremental Board-approved revenue and its revenue at existing rates for any months in 2012 in which its new rates are not in effect.


There is no Board-approved Issues List for this particular proceeding, but the parties used the Issues List in the Ottawa PUC Networks Inc. proceeding as a guide; that was EB-2011-0073.


There are three unsettled issues identified in the settlement agreement, all related to Exhibit 4, the OM&A exhibit of the application.


First, Issue 4.1:  Is the overall OM&A forecast for the test year appropriate?


Second, Issue 4.2:  Are the methodologies used to allocate shared services and other costs appropriate?


And third, issue 4.4:  Are the 2012 compensation costs and employee levels appropriate?


There is also one other matter that the parties had agreed may be the subject of argument, and that relates to the capitalization levels for the utility in the event -- in the event that there are changes to OM&A.


If you could bear with me for a moment, Madam Chair, I can go to that particular section of the settlement proposal.  I simply mention it now.  I'm not -- I'm not in a position to anticipate whether or not the intervenors are going to be arguing that the matter is simply left open in the settlement agreement.


And that would be Issue 2 -- excuse me.  2.6.


In the event that one of the reasons for the increase -- I will just read it from the settlement agreement:

"In the event that one of the reasons for the increase in OM&A is Grimsby Power's decision in 2011 to change its policy on capitalization of overheads, this change in 2011 was not related to IFRS.  The intervenors are at liberty to take the position that this constitutes overcapitalization in previous years and therefore the 2011 opening rate base should be reduced by the same amount that capitalized overheads were increased in years prior to the bridge year.  If that occurs, the Board would then be asked to determine the issue of the impact of that past change on opening rate base."


I will leave that to the intervenors to determine whether or not they're going to take a position on that in their submissions, but of course Grimsby will be responding to any position taken on that in our reply submissions.


And the -- to assist the Board and the parties this morning, Grimsby is presenting a single witness panel that will deal with all three matters.  The CVs of the two panels' members have now been provided to the Board and intervenors.


These witnesses have been directly involved in the preparation of the application, and for both of them this hearing is their first appearance before the Board as members of a witness panel.


And with those remarks, I will call on Grimsby Power's panel.  Perhaps they could be sworn in.


MS. HARE:  Thank you, but I have one question first.


You mentioned - and I would like this on the record - that the bill impact would be $3.71 for residential customers and 1.02 for GS-under-50.


But what is the percentage increase on distribution rates?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  My recollection from the revenue requirement work form, as prepared now, is that the distribution impacts would be 10.9 -- sorry, excuse me, 10.95 percent for residential, and negative 0.34 percent for GS-under-50.


And consistent with my earlier comments, both of those pairs of impacts for -- both billed impacts and -- excuse me, bill impacts and distribution impacts will change with the adjustments that Ms. Domokos will be mentioning.


MS. HARE:  Of course.


Mr. Sidlofsky, please prepare to introduce your witnesses.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Have they been sworn yet, Madam Chair?


MS. HARE:  No, they haven't, but they will be.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps I could ask them to approach Ms. Spoel, and I expect that she will be swearing you in.


Doug Curtiss, Sworn


Mioara Domokos, Sworn

Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you very much, Ms. Spoel.


And the Board now has your CVs as Exhibit K1.1.


Mr. Curtiss, I would simply take you through a couple of the points in your CV.


I understand that you're the chief executive officer for Grimsby Power since 2010?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Prior to that, you were manager of operations for Haldimand County Hydro?


MR. CURTISS:  That's also correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are a professional engineer?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, Mr. Curtiss, is the green light on there?


MR. CURTISS:  It certainly is.  Sorry, my apologies.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do I need to start that over again or are we okay with that?  Thank you.


And Mr. Curtiss, could you tell the Board what you are responsible for today, in terms of your application?


MR. CURTISS:  Basically I'm responsible for the application as a whole, and more particularly, for purposes of today's hearing, responsible for the OM&A budgets shown in the application.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Ms. Domokos, you are the director of finance for Grimsby Power?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, I am.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you hold a bachelor's degree in economics?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, I do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you are a certified general accountant?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Since 2007, yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And could you tell the Board your responsibilities with respect to the application?


MS. DOMOKOS:  I was responsible for the overall preparation of Grimsby Power cost-of-service application.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And perhaps I could ask both of the witnesses if the evidence was prepared by you or under your supervision?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt it as your own evidence in this proceeding?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, we do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt Grimsby Power's responses to Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories and technical conference questions and undertaking responses in this proceeding as your evidence?


MR. CURTISS:  The responses were prepared by Grimsby Power staff, and we adopt the responses as our own.  But we wish to be clear that not all of the responses reflect Grimsby Power's request in this application.


We may have been asked to perform calculations based on alternative scenarios, and we have performed the calculations and responded to the interrogatories, but we do not agree that the alternate scenarios are appropriate or that they should be adopted by the Board.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, Ms. Domokos, I gave you a bit of an introduction in my comments and my discussion with the Board.


Could you advise of any corrections to the evidence related to OM&A?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  The corrections to the evidence related to the OM&A have been listed in appendix A to the settlement agreement changes, and they are related to the OM&A and which will affect the 2012 test year.  And they are the elimination of the MDMR fees of 60.6K, the PST saving increase of 11.2K.


The -- we found it about the retail service transaction that are in the billing collection expenses, that they belong to the deferred accounts.  So it is another correction that need to be done for 12.4K.  So the total will be 84.2K.


It should be noted that since Grimsby Power budget has been approved by our board of directors, a number of new costs have been identified that were not previously available.


Grimsby Power is not seeking to recover these costs in the rate application, but they are relevant to this proceeding.  They will include the CIS service contract, which is $11,096; the sink operator service contract $27,040, the additional TGB that will increase the operating cost to $28,000.


The Kinectrics software maintenance upgrade to accept the microFIT will be $5,000, and MDMR integration service, $16,800.  So that will come to a total of 87.9K.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So $87,900, but, to be clear, you are not claiming that additional amount in this application; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  No, we are not.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Curtiss, could you provide an overview of the material Grimsby Power has filed in respect of its projected OM&A for the test year?


MR. CURTISS:  Certainly.  Exhibit 4, Grimsby Power's prefiled evidence, contains an overview of its operating costs for the 2012 test year and summaries of those costs dating back to 2006 Board-approved and 2006 actual.


We have provided detailed expense tables showing expenses in all areas of OM&A starting at page 17 of Exhibit 4 of our application, and our cost driver table is at page 19 of Exhibit 4.  A detailed variance analysis follows the cost driver table starting on page 24 of Exhibit 4.


In Grimsby Power's case, the utility has not rebased since 2006.  So this application has been our first opportunity to comprehensively consider the utility's needs since our 2006 rate rebasing application.


Even then, the 2006 applications were based, for the most part, on historical information from 2004.  It was only last year that the utility began using a bottom-up approach budgeting process.  This approach builds from all known costs and adds in costs for all identified tasks, activities and projects which were not previously detailed at the task or activity level.


I will touch on some of the key areas in Grimsby Power's OM&A budget in a moment, but before I do, I would like to make a few general comments.


Grimsby Power's cohort comparison, as updated in Energy Probe technical conference question 3, shows Grimsby with an OM&A cost per customer of 177.89 based on 2010 statistics.


This is, by far, the lowest cost per customer in its cohort. Grimsby has approximately 10,000 customers.  The nearest number of its cohort has OM&A per customer of 228.52, or 28.5 percent higher, and the utility with the highest cost in the cohort is 60.3 percent higher at 285.14 per customer.


When Grimsby Power's costs in 2012 CGAAP are calculated, Grimsby's cost per customer rises to 234.60, and that is of course subject to the adjustments that Mioara had mentioned earlier.  This is still the second-lowest cost per customer, even with this elevated level of spend and compared with costs from other utilities which are from 2010.


This graphic shows both the wide variability in costs from utility to utility, and that Grimsby's 2010 cost base is significantly lower than and possibly disparate from the others.


For the period from early 2008 to 2010, this organization functioned without a chief executive, and in February 2010 I was brought on board to bring some leadership to the organization.


After a short period of time, I quickly realized why this utility was one of the lowest cost utilities.  Things that I recognized from my experience at other LDCs as being standard utility practice were not to be found in this organization.


These were basic practices, and needs, such as a strong health and safety culture based on skill development, meaningful health and safety meetings and recurrent safety training for non-mandatory items, was not being practiced.


Basic line department tools and equipment found in most utilities were in disrepair or absent.  Professional development and attendance at utility forums, seminars and conferences was virtually non-existent for most employees.  Basic upkeep of the building was limited to reactive as opposed to proactive maintenance.  Large mobile equipment was old, and suggestions for repairs and upgrades were often frowned upon.


Financial processes were so fractured that getting basic financial information in a timely manner was not possible.  Staff were more focussed on transacting the process than looking for efficiencies and better ways of doing business.


These are the signs of an organization that would take unnecessary risks to keep costs down, even if it meant not meeting the basic needs of what most utilities would consider the bare minimum.


This culture and way of operating the business was not sustainable.


Grimsby Power, along with all other LDCs, have had a tremendous amount of change in recent years, increasing regulatory and reporting requirements, constant changes to customer information systems, new CDM programs as a condition of license, asset management plan requirements, an increasing need to collect various pieces of asset data, and the Green Energy Act in terms of the smart meter program, to name a few.


Since the last rebasing in 2006 based on 2004 data, the regulatory environment can be characterized as being in a constant state of change.  These conditions all add to the cost of doing business.


Prior to 2011, Grimsby Power's budget were created from a top-down approach.  A predetermined OM&A budget was set based on the results of the previous years, and only at the general ledger level.  This provided very little visibility into where the expenditures were taking place.


In 2010, after I arrived, a new budgeting process was created and implemented, which detailed all aspects of expense on a task-, activity- and service-level basis.


The bottom line with this approach is that the budgets reflect what we need to do to manage the assets as opposed to setting an artificial spending limit by basing the current year budget on historical spending patterns.  Reality is reflected in our budgets, plain and simple.


In addition to this, the budget took into consideration appropriate accounting of expenses, as per the guidelines and the uniform system of accounts.  The new budget created a complete view of the controllable activities within OM&A, required activities of the past, as well as new activities required to sustain a healthy organization.


The budgets contained within the rate application for the bridge year and the test year are fully supported by our board of directors.  Knowing full well that the increase in costs are significant, it is supported because it has been recognized that the past practice is not conducive to a healthy organization, and carries with it significant risk of failure.


I am aware that in other cases the Board has reduced OM&A to a level of OM&A for the last complete year plus an inflationary factor.  In Grimsby's case, that would suggest an increase in OM&A of approximately 10 percent.


This methodology assumes, to a certain degree, that the previous spending levels were sustainable.  I am strongly advising that the previous level of spending was not sustainable.


GPI has proposed an OM&A budget of 2.48 million in 2012 based on GAAP, and 2.64 million based on modified IFRS, and once again are subject to change, as Mioara has noted earlier.


The differences between CGAAP and modified IFRS are shown in our response to Board Staff Technical Conference Question No. 12(c).  We have shown the major cost drivers in our OM&A in table 4.8.


Cost drivers from 2010's actual OM&A of 1.81 million, onward into 2012, would include five major items.


Staffing, including payroll and benefits, we have increased our staffing costs by 189 K.  This represents, compared to 2010, the addition of two employees, bringing our staff complement to 18.5.  These employees, a line maintainer and accounting assistant, were hired in 2011, and the 2012 costs reflect the full payroll and benefits over the 12-month period.


The additional line maintainer position was added to make self-constructed projects and OM&A activities more efficient.


A crew of three is much less versatile as compared with a crew of four.  It is less onerous on other staff in terms of on-call duty, and two crews of two can be utilized when needed.


This additional line maintainer also fits nicely with succession planning for this department.  This position will offset the use of third-party contractors by an equivalent FTE.


The timing of this addition was in conjunction with the rebasing of rates.


The accounting assistant position was added to add stability to our finance department.  Prior to this, accounting and regulatory tasks were completed solely by the director of finance, with no backup or segregation of duties.


This position was actually created in 2010 with the hiring of a temporary position, and became permanent in 2011.


Changes in the delivery of CDM has also added cost to staffing.  Prior to 2011, CDM activities were executed by the finance and regulatory analyst.


This position was added in 2006 and was not part of rate base.  Costs for this position were covered almost 100 percent by the OPA's CDM funding mechanism, because this position looked after primarily CDM activities.


In 2011, CDM activities were transferred to a third-party service provider, and only the administration of CDM programs was left in-house.


As a result of this change, approximately 75 percent of the costs for this position are now part of OM&A, while 25 percent remains covered by OPA funds.


Changes in allocation, 154,000.


Prior to 2011, costs associated with the director of engineering, the line superintendent, information technology and engineering training were allocated between OM&A and capital.


The previous administration deemed that these costs should be distributed between OM&A and capital, based upon their interpretation of the US of A.


In management's review of allocations during the 2011 budget process, it was determined that these costs were better aligned with OM&A accounts, because costs were not necessarily related to specific jobs or projects.


Grimsby's view is that this is strictly a change in interpretation.


Smart meter system costs, 51K.  These costs have been updated, as noted in appendix A of the settlement agreement, and to be specific, MDM/R costs have been eliminated and the KTI census value has been reduced to 12.7K, and this was identified in Board Staff IR 15(a).


This program, as mandated by the government, has been implemented, and staff continue to work towards the implementation of time-of-use rates.  The costs associated with this program have been determined using rigorous evaluation processes, and efforts to get the most cost-effective solution were made by partnering with neighbouring utilities, which comprised the Niagara-Erie Power Alliance, or the NEPA Group.


These costs relate to AMI software, new functionality with our CIS vendor, SAP, and KTI census meter transaction fees and TGB fees, which are the communications fees.


These costs, in our view, need to be viewed as unavoidable.


Third-party service provider, 115K.  GPI is a small organization, and although staff are well-rounded with cross-functional skill sets, there is still the need for expert advice, in a wide variety of areas, including meter settlement processes, line contractors for maintenance work, and health and safety professionals, to name a few.


Computer network and website, 29K.  This includes costs for a network security audit, website maintenance, and an upgrade to Internet bandwidth capacity.


Grimsby Power's new website is due to go live in the next week.  Enhancements to the website will include new customer interfaces, with on-line forms and additional updates on Grimsby Power's activities.


The content of GPI's 2012 budget at the level of 2.64 million -- IFRS format -- is consistent with established basic practices used by Ontario LDCs, and as such, is necessary to enable GPI to fulfil its objective of operating a safe, reliable and efficient electrical distribution system.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just a couple of more questions, Mr. Curtiss.  From what you have said, the utility has gotten into its current position over the course of several years.  Could you tell the Board why it is necessary to fix all of this now?


MR. CURTISS:  The resetting of OM&A is viewed by Grimsby as a necessary step to bring the utility up to par with what I consider to be the basic needs of the company.


A good portion of the costs are related to reallocations, which don't represent additional costs to the company.  Some of the costs relate to smart meters, as they are recognized outside of the deferral and variance accounts for the first time, and some represent new costs related to best practices.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Curtiss, finally, if the Board grants your requested increase in OM&A, are you anticipating similar increases in the coming years?


MR. CURTISS:  The objective of our 2012 budget was to identify tasks, activities and service levels which would allow Grimsby Power to operate at a sustainable level.  The resultant increase in costs is significant, but I believe it represents an accurate accounting of where Grimsby Power needs to be, provided that the utility environment is stable through the next four years.


I would not anticipate any increases of this magnitude in the years to follow.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.


Madam Chair, the panel is now available for cross-examination.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I have just two quick questions of Ms. Domokos.


Looking at your resume, there is an overlap between when you were an accounting manager at Yungbunzlauer, and director of finance.  Were you part-time at Grimsby Power?


MS. DOMOKOS:  No.  I started on the end of 2008.


MS. HARE:  But on your CV, it indicates that you were accounting manager til 2010.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Oh, that is a mistake.  Sorry, I apologize.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Domokos, could you turn your microphone on, please?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry, I apologize.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  I was just interested because I thought maybe it was a part-time position initially, which would be of relevance here.


And the other question that I have is you mentioned some new cost drivers in the order of 87,000 that you said you are not requesting.  And you said but they're relevant to this application.


So I don't understand how they're relevant if you are not requesting them.


MS. DOMOKOS:  All of the evidence came after we did the budget process, and they were not available at the time we did the budget.


And I believe it is relevant because we have to cover this.  There are kind of costs that it is not a choice.  We have to cover that.


So from that point of view, I would say they are relevant for this here right now.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


I understand the order is Mr. Aiken first; is that correct?  Followed by -- now I wasn't sure if it was Mr. Buonaguro or Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Shepherd second, and then Mr. Buonaguro?  And then Board Staff.


Okay.  So, Mr. Aiken, if you are ready?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Good morning, panel.  I want to start off -- and I might be going over some of the numbers you gave this morning on the OM&A numbers -- but I want to start off determining what the current OM&A request is.  And I should say that I will be speaking in CGAAP exclusively.  I do not speak MIFRS.


So if you could turn to pages 1 and 2 of the compendium, which is Board Staff -- oh, sorry, the compendium, we should have that marked as an exhibit.  It is an Energy Probe compendium.


David did give copies up to you before.


MR. LANNI:  Yes.  This would be Exhibit K1.2, and --


MS. HARE:  The Panel doesn't have it.


MR. LANNI:  Okay.  Please mark that as Energy Probe Research Foundation's cross-examination compendium.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  ENERGY PROBE RESEARCH FOUNDATION'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM

MR. AIKEN:  So then turning to pages 1 and 2 of the compendium, this is Board Staff Technical Conference Question No. 12.  On the second page of that response, there is a table, and in the "2012 CGAAP" column, I see an OM&A figure of 2,477,989.


Now, excluding the changes you gave this morning, is that the current request of Grimsby for OM&A expenses based on CGAAP?  In other words, is that the correct starting point prior to the three adjustments you listed this morning?


MS. DOMOKOS:  The starting point will be what was filed on the original application, 2,459,977.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So that is shown on page 3 of the compendium, taken from page 3 of Exhibit 4?


MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 10 in the compendium, this is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 15, and I believe you touched on this earlier.


The response indicates that an error occurred in the KTS/census meter fees line item, and that has been changed from 30,618 to 12,730, for a reduction of $17,888 in the revised table 4.1 shown in that response.


Am I correct that this correction does not affect the overall OM&A forecast shown on the table at page 3 of the compendium?


Maybe to assist you, on page 17 of the compendium there is a response to Energy Probe Technical Conference Question No. 12 that says the error does not affect table 4.1.  So I just wanted you to confirm that.


MS. DOMOKOS:  The original was for the smart meter cost, 129,960, and it was reduced to 112,072.


MR. AIKEN:  And that is because of the KTS/census error?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, yes.  So it was reduced, the KTS/census meter fees, from 30,618 to 12,730.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  But my question is -- and this is at page 17 of the compendium, Energy Probe Technical Conference Question No. 12 - the response indicates that the error and subsequent cost correction of table 4.1, zero, was confined to the creation of this table only.  The error does not affect table 4.1.


I just want to confirm that, first of all; in other words, the 2.45 million that you indicated was a starting point, that number hasn't been changed because of this error?


MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  But then if you would turn to page 4 of the compendium - this is table 4.8 from your original evidence, the cost driver table - at line 4, the smart meter system costs, we still have the figure of 129,960.


And this is the variance that is the subject of table 4.1; is that correct?  We're talking about the same thing here?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if this table were to be updated to reflect the revised table 4.1, which has $112,072 in place of the 129,960, and given that your bottom line closing balance of 2.459 million doesn't change, would I be correct that line 9, which is titled "remaining balance", that would change from 23,948 to 41,836?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  That will be changed, the remaining balance.  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yeah.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, you talked about the changes this morning. The first one, the MDM/R costs, 60,600, that comes off the 2.45 million; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  And it is coming from the billing and collection.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Then the PST savings - and this goes back to appendix A of the settlement agreement - am I correct that that 11,200 figure is the difference -- there is an IR number column, and if you go down and look at the second, 55, that difference is the difference between the 18,000 and the 29,252 shown there?


MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So that comes off --


MS. DOMOKOS:  From the operation.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  That comes off the 2.45 million, as well?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct, too.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Sorry, I didn't catch the third item.  I think it was 12,400.  What is that related to?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So it was included in the OM&A under billing and collection expenses, the retailer expense, which the retailer expense on the end of each month, it's compared with the revenue from the retailer, and the higher -- it's going down to the lower, depends which way, and the difference go on the deferred account.


So that it doesn't (sic) supposed to be included in the OM&A.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Is there...


MS. DOMOKOS:  So, sorry, it is related to the deferred accounts 1518 and 1548.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Is there a line item in appendix A where this number can be derived from?


MS. DOMOKOS:  No, no.  This is something that -- I found it after I compare the way that our business plan was done with our cost-of-service application.


So it was done correctly in our business plan, and it was an error in my cost-of-service application.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So that 12,400 also comes off the 2.459 million?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct, too.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 13 of the compendium, this is Energy Probe Technical Conference Question No. 13.


The question asks you to update table 4.2, which is OM&A cost per customer, to reflect the removal of MDM/R costs and any corrections identified through the interrogatory process.


The response indicates that other corrections have not been included within the table.  So based on what we now know, does this mean that the 2,399,390, shown as the 2012 CGAAP test year OM&A, that number already reflects the reduction of the MDM/R costs, and so that number should now be reduced by the 11,200 and the 12,400; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry.  I have to do the calculation to answer the question.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Subject to check --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  -- if the original forecast was 2,459,977 and you reduce it by 60,600, roughly, for the MDM/R costs, I believe that gives you the 2,399,390 that is reflected in that response.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And so now to update this, both the 11,200 and the 12,400 should be removed from that number, as well?


MS. DOMOKOS:  The 11,000 and the 12,000, yes.  Yes, I agree.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


I want to turn for a few minutes to the 2010 OM&A costs, and this is in table 4.8 at page 4 of the compendium.


The 2010 numbers total 1,805,000.  And there are two cost drivers showing in that table for the 2010 costs; the first is the increase in staffing of 159,000, and the second is a decrease in third-party service providers of 120,000.


Now, this latter figure is provided in more detail in table 4.9 at page 5 of the compendium, so if you could turn to that.


Table 4.9 shows ups and downs in a number of different categories that essentially net out to zero, and that the driver in the reduction is essentially related to the NPI management fees, which is $121,000.


Is that a correct analysis of those figures?


MR. CURTISS:  Could you clarify what your request is, please?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  My analysis of the "2010" column in table 4.9, where the top line shows that the total change in third-party service providers being minus 120,637, that was entirely driven by the reduction of 121,000 for the NPI management fees with everything, all of the other items there, essentially netting out to zero.


So there was one major cost driver there?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then on the following page, the reason for the ending of these fees, the NPI management fees, is related to the hiring of the CEO on February of 2010; is that also correct?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So I take it that the increase in the staffing cost driver back in table 4.8 is related to the addition of the CEO position, and normal wage and benefit increases for the existing employees; is that correct?


MR. CURTISS:  That would certainly be a large component of it, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Between -- sorry, if you could turn to page 18 of the compendium, this is the employee compensation and benefits table.


Between 2009 and 2010, I see the addition of one management position, so I assume this also reflects the CEO position.  Am I also correct that the FTE numbers shown are year-end numbers?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, two comments there.  Yes, they are year-end numbers, and these numbers in here are also rounded to the nearest digit, so there really should be half-numbers in there.


MR. AIKEN:  I was going to ask you about that, because you mentioned that you came on board in February of 2010.  So your FTE in that 17 shouldn't be a full one?  It should be --


MR. CURTISS:  Well, it is a full one.  We're not counting part-months.  It is just our count at the end of the year.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.  At the bottom of that table in the second-last line, there is a figure of -- for 2010 of one million --


MS. HARE:  Mr. Aiken, can you just give us a second?


MS. SPOEL:  I just want to clarify.  So your FTEs are a year-end count, as opposed to an average employee count for the year?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure I understand.  That's fine.  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  In the second-last line of that column for 2010, there is a figure that is labelled "total compensation charge to OM&A" of 1,281,333.


I assume that this figure would reflect the vacancy in the CEO position for part of the year, and any other vacancies that may have existed in 2010; is that correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, those numbers reflect actual -- actual costs in the year.


MR. AIKEN:  That is what I had assumed.


Now, we're going to get into the problem with the questions of undertakings in this compressed timetable.  But would it be possible to get an estimate of the 2010 total compensation charged to OM&A if all of the full-time positions that existed at the end of 2010 had been filled for the entire year?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.  It is just math, so yes.  I guess we could do that.


MR. AIKEN:  I guess my question is, then:  How soon could you do that?


MR. CURTISS:  I think I would like to refer to the end of the questioning here before I give an answer on undertakings, because there may be more than one.


MR. AIKEN:  There may be, yes.  Okay.


MR. CURTISS:  Maybe not, too, but...


MS. HARE:  I just want to make sure, because the way you posed the question, Mr. Aiken, you did say "and other vacancies."  Are there more than one?  And I will tell you why I'm asking.  If it is just one, then I think we're getting into issues of freedom of information and privacy, because it becomes obvious to do the math and know what the compensation is, which I don't think is appropriate.


So before we get down that path, let's just confirm it is more than one vacant position that you would be then adjusting for?  Maybe while you think about that, I would turn to Board Staff legal, as to whether or not this is an issue.


MR. AIKEN:  It actually was an issue that I was going to bring up, if there was only one portion of one vacancy.  Yes.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  So I can confirm in 2010 there was only one addition, myself.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then I can estimate that number myself.  I don't need any further responses on that.


Go back to table 4.8 of compendium page 4.


A significant driver of the cost increase between 2010 and 2012 is the change in the allocation method shown as item number 2.  This driver accounts for about 154,000 or nearly 25 percent of the overall increase between these two years.


Now, at the bottom of this page there is an explanation for this driver.  The explanation talks about changes between 2010 and '11 to the allocation of expenses, some of which is between different OM&A accounts.


Am I correct that a change in the allocation of costs within OM&A would not change the level of the OM&A costs themselves?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry, can you repeat, please, the question?


MR. AIKEN:  The explanation provided at the bottom of the page, at page 4 of the compendium, the first part of it talks about the allocation within OM&A US of A accounts, being a change done there.


I am assuming that there is no change as a result of that part in the total OM&A costs.  You are just moving numbers within OM&A?


MR. CURTISS:  Your assumption that the costs were just moved around within OM&A is incorrect.


MR. AIKEN:  But any of the costs that were moved around only within OM&A would not be part of this driver.  This driver is, when you move between accounts, OM&A and capital accounts.


So any movements within OM&A, if you take it out of salaries and put it in third party, that doesn't affect this driver?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CURTISS:  There would have been a portion of the allocations which remained in OM&A, because they were previously distributed across both OM&A and capital.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And I guess what I am seeking to verify is that that would not be part of the driver of the change in the OM&A.


MR. CURTISS:  The dollar value we have in the driver table represents the value that was transferred from capital, only, into OM&A.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, yes.  So that gets me to the second-last sentence in that explanation at the bottom of the page.  It says that, "Costs associated with stores, engineering and operation supervision that was allocated to various capital and OM&A costs", and so this is the $154,000 you talked about earlier?  This is what is driving that?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And is this change -- I misled the Board before.  I said I wouldn't talk about MIFRS.  For one second I will.  Is this change that took place between 2010 and 2011 related, in any way, to the transition to MIFRS?


MR. CURTISS:  No, it is not.


MR. AIKEN:  Good.  Thank you.


Is the $154,000 related to labour costs or is there an additional component beyond labour, such as contracted work?


MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  Referring to our change in allocation methods, stores, engineering, operation supervision, that is all labour.


MR. AIKEN:  So all of the $154,000 is --


MR. CURTISS:  I am not finished yet.  And the last -- those costs related to network and GIS, some of those costs are third party.


MR. AIKEN:  And can you give me an approximate breakdown of how much of the $154,000 is labour-related?


MS. HARE:  Ms. Domokos, you could take an undertaking and do the checking over the break, if that is better.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  Yes, I believe it is.  Thank you.


MR. LANNI:  Mr. Aiken, would you kindly rephrase that question for the undertaking?


MR. AIKEN:  To provide what percentage of the $154,000 change in allocation methodology cost driver is labour-related.


MR. LANNI:  And we will mark that as undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE WHAT PERCENTAGE OF THE $154,000 CHANGE IN ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY COST DRIVER IS LABOUR-RELATED

MR. AIKEN:  I am just going to follow up on that a little bit, and so I might have to add to that undertaking in a moment.


But if you go back to page 18, the employee compensation and benefits table, will you take it, subject to check, that the proportion of total compensation that is capitalized in 2010 is 8.4 percent, being the $117,000 out of 1.398 million, and that number rises to about 11.2 percent in 2011?  Of course, the flip side of that is that the percentage charged to OM&A is decreasing between 2010 and 2011.


Now, in terms of the absolute amount, it appears that the compensation charged to OM&A between 2010 and 2011 is an increase of about $59,000.  Again, will you take that subject to check?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. HARE:  So, Ms. Domokos and Mr. Curtiss, given that you are new witnesses, when the examiner asks you "subject to check", it means that you get an opportunity to actually check the math later, so you are agreeing with it for now, and then if it turns out that the number is different and is material, then you can correct it.


So when Mr. Aiken asks you to accept it "subject to check", it means you do still have an opportunity to do the math later.


MR. CURTISS:  Okay, we will take that subject to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I will get to the point of why I am asking this in just a minute.


In table 2.7, which I don't have in the compendium, but I don't think you need to look up - this is the capital addition evidence - the capital additions in 2010 was 1,454,000, and for 2011 it is 1,445,000, so it is virtually the same level.


So my question is this, and this is where you may want to add it to the undertaking is:  Can you reconcile the increase in OM&A costs between 2010 and 2011 shown in table 4.8 of about $140,000 - this is between 2010-2011 -- the labour component of the $140,000, I should say -- based on capitalizing less, with the evidence that the proportion of the compensation costs being charged to OM&A is decreasing in 2011 relative to 2010?


Now, if you come back and say that $50,000 of that $140,000 is labour, then the numbers are going to match and I will be able to follow the changes.  So it is really a reconciliation between the change in the OM&A - sorry, the compensation charged to OM&A with the change in your policy related to some portion of that $140,000.


I am just looking for a general agreement that the numbers match.  So I would say that would be part --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Is that the wording of Mr. Aiken's undertaking?  Sorry, I am just trying to follow it.  Thank you.  The reconciliation I followed.


MR. LANNI:  So we will mark that as J1.2.  Do you want to give that a more concise...


MR. AIKEN:  No, but I will.


MR. LANNI:  No, okay?


MR. AIKEN:  To reconcile the labour component of the $140,000 change between 2011 and 2010, because of the policy change, with the increase in the total compensation charged to OM&A between those same two years of $59,000.  I should have said that the first time.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO RECONCILE THE LABOUR COMPONENT OF THE $140,000 CHANGE BETWEEN 2011 AND 2010, BECAUSE OF THE POLICY CHANGE, WITH THE INCREASE IN THE TOTAL COMPENSATION CHARGED TO OM&A BETWEEN THOSE SAME TWO YEARS OF $59,000.

MR. LANNI:  Okay.


MR. AIKEN:  Going back to table 4.8...


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, just before Mr. Aiken continues, that is undertaking J1.2 at this point, I believe, and Mr. Aiken is still asking his questions and I don't want to interrupt that.


But at some point, we may need to consider timing of the preparation of these undertaking responses in the context of the Board's plans for the remainder of the proceeding.  I think it is reasonable that Grimsby have a fair opportunity to check its numbers and to come back with accurate responses.


MS. HARE:  We will deal with that in due time.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Understood.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Aiken, how long do you think you are going to be?


MR. AIKEN:  Probably another 15 minutes.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Then I think we will take our morning break now until 11:15.


--- Recess taken at 10:53 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:16 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


Ms. Domokos, were you able to check the math that -- the Undertaking J1.1 during the break?  And there was also one that you were going to see whether you actually agreed with it.


MR. CURTISS:  So the first one there, I think we're going to have to take an undertaking to verify those –- or our numbers there with regard to your reconciliation question.


MS. HARE:  So that is 1.1 and 1.2?


MR. CURTISS:  Right.  Correct.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Okay.  Mr. Aiken, can you proceed, please?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I am still on table 4.8 on page 4 of the compendium.  Would it be accurate to say that if the change in the capitalization policy that you made in 2011 was in place in 2010, the impact would have been similar to the 140,000 that is showing there for 2011, given that your OM&A and capital levels are very similar between those two years?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CURTISS:  In general terms, I think that assumption may be correct, subject to verifying our numbers.


MR. AIKEN:  Was the method used to capitalize costs that was in place in 2010 the same that was in place when the 2006 rates were set?  Or is that going back too far to know?


MS. DOMOKOS:  It was before my time.  I believe it was the same way in 2006 like in 2008, when I started.  And the way that it was done in 2008 was the same, '09 and '10 and before.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. DOMOKOS:  I assume it was.


MR. AIKEN:  The next thing I want to look at is the cost drivers associated with the third-party service providers.  This is on table 4.9, page 5 of the compendium.


The last column shows an increase of 102,507 for 2012, and it is basically the sum of the last three lines shown in the table, being the process meter data, the HR consultant, and training.  The other numbers, again, pretty much net out.  So I am going to concentrate my questions on those three line items.


The process meter data is explained on the next page of the compendium, page 6 at the bottom under the "Process Meter Data" heading.


Is this -- the net increase, which is $46,000, is that a one-time cost, or an ongoing increase at that level?


MR. CURTISS:  This is an ongoing cost at that level.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So how is this process currently managed?


MR. CURTISS:  We use a number of different service providers for a settlement solution, and also in conjunction with internal resources to tie all of those processes together.  The difference reflects elimination of a component of those third-party services that are being provided, as they relate to the end-to-end solution.


MR. AIKEN:  So the 46,000 is a true net figure?  There is an increase in costs, and then there is a decrease in some of the costs, some of the functions that are being replaced?


MR. CURTISS:  As they relate to third-party service providers, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.  Could you provide the total cost of the new approach that you are implementing, and the amount of the annual savings that comes up with this net increase of $46,000?


MR. CURTISS:  I don't believe we said there was a savings anywhere in this.


MR. AIKEN:  I thought you just indicated that there were functions, third-party functions that you would no longer have to do.


MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  We can identify those.


MR. AIKEN:  What I'm looking for is what is the cost of the new process in aggregate, and then the cost of the savings, so that you get the net increase of 46,000.  Are we talking about 100,000 minus 54?  Or, you know, 300 minus 254?  Or what?  The magnitude of the changes is what I am looking for.


MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  We can do an undertaking to get that information for you.


MR. LANNI:  That will be Undertaking J1.3, and that is to provide a summary of the components that fit into the process meter data number for the 2012 test year of $46,000.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF THE COMPONENTS THAT FIT INTO THE PROCESS METER DATA NUMBER FOR THE 2012 TEST YEAR OF $46,000.


MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to the next line item, the HR consultant, and this is dealt with on page 7 of the compendium at the top, and I forget the amount.  $26,880 is the net increase.


Again, is this a one-time cost or an ongoing cost?


MR. CURTISS:  As we stated in our -- some of our responses to the IRs, it is an ongoing cost.


MR. AIKEN:  What is the breakdown of the 26,880 in the incremental costs related to the negotiations with the Power Workers' Union and to the compensation review?


Those are the two items that make up this increase.  I just need a rough number.  Is it 50/50?


MR. CURTISS:  Rough number, I believe it is 50/50.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  With respect to the negotiations with the PWU, do you have any expectation of the term of that next collective agreement?


MR. CURTISS:  Not at this time.


MR. AIKEN:  What is the term of your existing collective agreement with them?


MR. CURTISS:  In terms of length?  Or in terms of the --


MR. AIKEN:  In terms of length.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CURTISS:  I believe our existing agreement was a three-year agreement.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. CURTISS:  Which ends in 2012.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Does Grimsby Power plan on doing a compensation review every year?


MR. CURTISS:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  Then why is the 50 percent considered an ongoing cost?


MR. CURTISS:  In 2012 we have identified specific projects related to that HR cost.  We haven't budgeted for 2013, but we see the need to have that resource available to us for whatever projects that are put into the 2013 budget.


MR. AIKEN:  So they would be HR costs, but for something other than a compensation review?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then finally, the incremental training costs of about 32,000 are noted on page 7 of the compendium, as well.


Very briefly noted, there is no justification provided for the increase.  And so my question is:  What has been the cost associated with training in 2010 and 2011?


Again, I see this as an incremental number, so I don't know what the total number is.  So what I am looking for is the actual training costs for 2010, 2011 and 2012 that show this increase of 32,000.


MR. CURTISS:  We would need to take an undertaking to do that.  It involves a bit of number-crunching.


MR. LANNI:  Mark that as undertaking 1.4, and that is to provide actuals of the line item for training in table 4.9 cost drivers for the years 2010 and 2011.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE ACTUALS OF THE LINE ITEM FOR TRAINING IN TABLE 4.9 COST DRIVERS FOR THE YEARS 2010 AND 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  Is this -- these training costs associated with management employees or union employees, or both?


MR. CURTISS:  Both.


MR. AIKEN:  What type of management training or training for management employees does it involve?


MR. CURTISS:  There are numerous training initiatives.  Training is sort of all-encompassing.  It includes such things as, you know, for finance people, for example, sessions on, you know, rate applications as such.


The other training that MEARIE offers for us are related to executive development and also in terms of the non-union -- sorry, the union staff training could be anything from chainsaws to hydraulic training, bucket truck, you know, the whole gamut of trades training.


MR. AIKEN:  And, again, I think in the evidence somewhere you have indicated that this increase in training expenses is a permanent shift to a higher level of training.  It is not a one-time expense?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to proceed?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I think it would be -- it may be most convenient for the Board if I have my brief in camera at the beginning, get that out of the way, and then we can go on the public record for the remainder of my cross, if that is convenient.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  So has everybody now signed the confidentiality agreement that is in the room?


MR. LANNI:  I believe everybody has, all but Mr. MacIntosh, who has just left.


MS. HARE:  He just left.  And, Mr. Sidlofsky, I note Mr. Bacon is sitting beside you as a consultant, I suppose, to Grimsby.  Does that mean Mr. Bacon has to sign the confidentiality agreement?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Bacon is employed by BLG, so we don't typically have him sign the confidentiality undertakings.


MS. HARE:  Sorry, I don't know.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, I should have introduced him before.  To my further left is David Savage -- excuse me, sorry, David Kelly, I apologize, from Grimsby Power.  He is an employee of Grimsby Power.


MS. HARE:  Okay, that's fine.  Thank you.  Then we will go in camera.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My mic is still on.


MR. LANNI:  I think we are fine to go, but Silvan has gone to check with IT.


MS. HARE:  Okay, just take a minute.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Test, test, test, test, test.


--- On commencing in camera session at 11:30 a.m.


[Page 48, line 1 to page 52, line 21 have been 


redacted.]


--- On resuming public session at 11:40 a.m.


MR. LANNI:  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERRD:  Yes.


MR. LANNI:  Can we mark your compendium as Exhibit K1.3?


And that would be Grimsby OM&A actuals and budget from approved business plan.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.13:  GRIMSBY POWER OM&A ACTUALS AND BUDGET FROM APPROVED BUSINESS PLAN.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And I think calling it a compendium is like Mr. Aiken not admitting that he is taking MIFRS language classes.


[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Well, I was going to ask if this is the compendium.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  It is the wonder of spreadsheets; you can compact all of this stuff.


So, Mr. Curtiss, could you take a look at K1.3, the SEC compendium, page 1?


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you confirm that the numbers set out in the chart at the top are the actuals and approved budgets from your current approved business plan?


MS. DOMOKOS:  We recognize there are differences between the business plan and the cost application numbers, figures.


And I will start with the first --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I wonder if I can just take it step-by-step.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.  Sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So step one is:  Are these the numbers from the business plan?  Can you confirm that that is correct?


The next step is, then, can you reconcile it with the application?


MS. HARE:  Let me just understand.  The business plan we did not file as a document.  It was agreed it was confidential.  But these numbers are not confidential?  There is no problem with this?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Over the weekend, the company and their counsel and myself exchanged information, and we provided them with this spreadsheet and asked them whether this could be made public, to try to make it easier for the Board.  And the company has been cooperating all weekend, trying to get this information correctly on the record.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I just wanted to be assured that it was not confidential.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So first can you confirm this is from your business plan?  These numbers are all from your business plan?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then I am going to sort of short-circuit the discussion about the difference between this and the application, because it looks to me -- and tell me whether this is right -- like the primary difference is that the numbers in the business plan do not include work that is chargeable to third parties.  Your primary difference is you have around 40- or $50,000 a year that you charge to third parties.


Is that right?


MS. DOMOKOS:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then, you can help me understand why the numbers are different.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.  I will start with the difference in operational expenses.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MS. DOMOKOS:  So on the 2012 budget, on the business plan, I didn't have the harmonized tax saving.  It was not calculated on that time.  So it is a difference of 18,012, the one that we recognize initial.


So that will be the first difference between the figures in the application and the figures in the business plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, now I am confused.  I thought this was actually going to take only 30 seconds, but let me just go to the reference I had, which is in your technical conference responses.  Just one sec.  I will find it.  Here we are.


At page 24 of your responses to Board Staff Technical Conference Questions, you have a table of your OM&A for 2012, CGAAP OM&A.  Do you see that?


I see 301,733 is the same as from your business plan, and 489,114 is the same as from your business plan.


Do you see that?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.  I will go to the -- like I said before with Randy, I will go to the initial application, and in the initial application it was 283,721 under CGAAP.


So on this answer, it is an error; it was not the harmonized tax saving in that number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So...


MS. DOMOKOS:  So our initial application was, for the operation, 283,721.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying the figures in Technical Conference Question No. 12(b) are not correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Only that one, I'm saying, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Then the rest of them?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So then I will go on the line for billing and collecting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MS. DOMOKOS:  And in the business plan, we recognize that portion of the retail that I mentioned in the morning, it is not part of the OM&A, but it was by error included in the cost-of-service application.


So all years, you will have a difference -- from 2004 to 2012, a difference because of these expenses.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That difference will be somewhere around $12,000?


MS. DOMOKOS:  For 2012 it is 12,391.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  Thank you.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Then we will move to administration and general.  I have differences in 2011 and 2012.  In 2011, in the business plan it is $100,000 more.  The amount, it is the cost-of-service application.  We did an estimation and all the amount was in the business plan we put in 2011.  But after that, we decided we cannot expense the whole amount in one single year and that will be expensed in the next four years.


So each year will go $25,000, which means 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 will be each year an expense of $25,000.  So that will make the difference in 2011 and 2012.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So 2011 should be down 100,000?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2012 should be up 25,000?


MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  That is exactly what I got.


And so we should see your 2011 approved budget as being 2,037,445, 100,000 less?


MS. DOMOKOS:  I believe so.  You have to take all of the -- in 2011, in the billing and collection difference; right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's true.  That, too, yes.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  And I have another difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. DOMOKOS:  It is the LEAP expense, which it is not in my business plan.  On that time, I was not aware, but it is in my cost-of-service application for 2011 and 2012.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your actuals for all of the previous years -- I am leaving aside 2011 and 2012.  Your actuals for all the previous years are different by 40 to $50,000 from your -- between your business plan and application.


And so we understand that 10 or 12,000 of that is going to be related to this billing and collection adjustment.  What is the rest of it?


So, for example, 2006 actuals, you filed at 1,509,565, but, actually, your business plan says 1,459,406, a difference of $50,000; that is, you spent 50,000 less?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So for 2006 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. DOMOKOS:  -- we have a difference of 13,672.  That belongs to that retail expense in the billing section.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the other 36,000 is?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry I didn't follow you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your application says your actuals in 2006 were 1,509,565.  Your business plan says your actuals - so this is not about a budgeting difference - is 1,459,406.  The difference is $50,000.


So you have explained $13,672 of it.  I am looking for the other $36,000.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry, I did last night the math and it was working.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I am going to ask you to give us a general explanation.  I don't need the detailed numbers.  I just want a general explanation that reconciles these two.


I assume they reconcile.  I would just like some sort of general explanation as to why, as to how they do.  The reason I want that is because I want to get a sense of what the comparable 2011 numbers should be compared to previous years.


You can see that we got a chart here that shows year by year.  I just want to get a sense of whether this chart is wrong by any significant amount, the graph.


MS. DOMOKOS:  So I don't have any other difference that I am aware.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then, Mr. Curtiss, I am going to turn to you.  I have really four questions, first, with respect to seminars and training.  And feel free to put the number we talked about off the record on the record, if you want, because it will make it simpler, but, if not, can you give us a sense of what your seminars and training budget is per person and tell us why it would be as high as it is?


MR. CURTISS:  We haven't done any analysis on a per-person basis.  So without some analysis, I don't think I can answer that question very well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you know what the total is, right, because we talked about it?  And you know you have 19 people.


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, I know, but I don't know how to compare that to any of the years before that, to put it in --


MS. HARE:  I think the question is just to put on the record what the number is.  It is just the math.


MR. CURTISS:  Okay, fine.  The math is the math.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can't say it.


MR. CURTISS:  I will agree with --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I say the number?


MR. CURTISS:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The number is $3,895 per person.  And the question is:  When you have 19 people and you are spending 3,895 per person for seminars and training, that seems like a big number.  I certainly cannot recall another utility that has spent at that level.


MR. CURTISS:  Okay, I will agree with that number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us why it is so high?


MS. HARE:  Well, I think what Mr. Curtiss is saying is he can't compare it to any other utility, because he doesn't know what others are spending.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand, but it still seems like a lot of money, for every employee, to be spending $4,000 on seminars and conferences.  My question is more of a common sense question than, Let's compare the utilities.


MR. CURTISS:  Still, without looking at some analysis, I don't think I can answer that question properly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then my second question is:  You have a substantial increase, give or take 650,000, from 2010 to 2012 in your OM&A budget, and I understand that some of this is because until the company had a full-time CEO, it was really not spending the way it should have.  There was things it should have been spending on and it wasn't; right?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, in fact, we can see that if you take a look at K1.3, the blue line there is your actual OM&A per year.  You see 2008, 2009 and 2010, you are static in your spending.  Presumably your customers were growing and you needed to be spending more; correct?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so my question is:  Of the budget that you are proposing for the test year, how much of that is a new normal, a new level that you have to maintain going forward, and how much of that is catch-up for the spending that should have been done in prior years?  Have you done any analysis of that?


MR. CURTISS:  Not specifically, but what I can say, that the 2012 budget reflects an ongoing sustainable level, in our opinion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how are you paying for catch-up expenses?  I mean, I'm looking at this chart and we put in a trend line so it would be more easy to understand.


You see below the trend line you have a lot of underspending in 2008, 2009 and 2010.  Presumably all of that stuff has to be done at some point; right?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So isn't some of that in 2011 and 2012?
MR. CURTISS:  Well, again, I will answer the same way I answered before.


As far as we're concerned, 2012, the level it is at will sustain us going forward.  If some of that is catch-up over the four-year period, then fine, you can call it catch-up.


But we believe that that level of spend is what we need to maintain our organization over that period of time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then my last question is:  You said in your direct evidence that you are adding a new line maintainer this year, right, 2011?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that person is offsetting one full FTE for an outside contractor, right?  I think that is what you said.


MR. CURTISS:  I said it was the equivalent of, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I don't understand why there would be a cost increase for that.  It sounds to me it should be net neutral, or if anything, you should be saving the money by moving the activity in-house.


But I wouldn't have thought it would be a cost increase.


MR. CURTISS:  Overall, I would agree with your assumption that one FTE, in terms of Grimsby Power's complement, would offset whatever we would spend capital-wise or O&MA with our contractors.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we shouldn't treat the line maintainer as being part of the drivers of the increase in OM&A?


MR. CURTISS:  Well, except that a line maintainer, you know, his total time is not allocated directly to OM&A, if he spends time on capital works.  So I can't -- you know, it is not a one-to-one relationship there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all of our questions.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  If I wait 30 seconds I can say "good afternoon."


Actually, I only have two areas I would like to follow up on, after my friends' excellent crosses.


The first has to do with the smart meter costs, smart meter-related costs.  I am going to pull up the response to interrogatory -- Board Staff Interrogatory No. 15(a), which is at page 15 of that document.


You went through this with Mr. Aiken.  And as I understand it, this is the interrogatory response where you clarified that there was an error in table 4.10.  You note that the line item, KTI census meter fees, in the original table 4.10 were $30,618, but they actually should be $12,730.


Then Mr. Aiken took you to another response later on, which says -- which suggested that that particular error was contained within the table 4.10, and that it didn't -- I guess I would call it -- permeate throughout the application.


Do you remember that conversation with Mr. Aiken?  Somebody has to say "yes."


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, we do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I got confused, because I think earlier on there was some evidence that suggested to me that it was one of the corrections or one of the reductions to the original OM&A that should be recognized at the end of the day.  So I just wanted to pursue that, to make sure that I am understanding this correctly or that this correction shouldn't actually be made.


So, Mr. Aiken - and he did the same thing I did in terms of looking at this - he took you to another table, which I am going to pull up.  This is the variance analysis.


This is at page -- I am pulling up from his compendium; it's page 4 of the Energy Probe compendium.


He noted here the smart meter system costs, which I have got highlighted on the table, shows the $129,960 as being one of the drivers of the OM&A increase for 2012.


And obviously -- and I think you talked about this -- the 129,000 includes the incorrect $30,000-or-so figure for the KTI costs; is that correct?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I just wanted to track this down to see if this $129,000 figure -- because there is a response later on in his book that talks about the -- this error being limited to for 4.10, but obviously this same error has occurred in table 4.8, because the 129,000 hasn't been reduced here.


I just want to track it down, to see if the 129,000 fed into the other tables where these costs would come up to build up the total OM&A request.


So can you tell me, with respect to this item 4, smart meter system costs, if we were to go to the general OM&A tables, where would I find that number?  First of all, is that single number a discrete item in another table, building up the operation, maintenance, administration general costs?


MR. CURTISS:  We have to keep in mind the cost driver tables are produced from information from other tables.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. CURTISS:  And as I mentioned in my opening statement, the 129,960 is actually 51K now, after we take out MDM/R costs and we take out the error in the cost table 4.10.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that is my problem, is that you talk about removing the 51,000 and that is a reduction to the as-filed requested OM&A expense of 2.459 million.


But then -- sorry?  Sorry, the 6,000, but then you talk about the error -- you just referred to the error as something else that has to be deducted, so...


MR. CURTISS:  The cost tables all roll up into one another.  So table 4.10 and the previous table we had on the screen, fit together, but they're outside of -- all of the information in those tables is taken out of the other exhibits.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that is what I am trying to track down.  I just wanted to take a look at the other exhibits where these costs would reside that led to 4.8 and 4.10, just to make sure that it is not an error that was generated earlier on.


So for example, well, I guess we can go right to the culprit here.  We're talking about the KTI census meter fees of -- 12,730 is the correct number; correct?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Where would I find that particular line item in the original OM&A tables?  I guess we can go to the evidence and you can point me to it.


MR. CURTISS:  Well, I believe that would be part of the -- correct me if I'm wrong -- 5175 account, which is meter expenses.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay?


MR. CURTISS:  And it's not -- you know, you're not going to get the granularity with that particular line item; it is just going to be a total.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So maybe I can do that by way of undertaking.


You're saying that that total figure would be in the – sorry, what account number was it?  Account 50 --


MR. CURTISS:  I believe it is 5175, maintenance of meters.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So maybe by way of undertaking you can take a look at the original evidence underpinning the amount in 51 -- I keep forgetting -– 5175, to make sure the error wasn't in there, as well.  Because I just want to make sure the error is -- was only contained outside and it didn't make up part of the original OM&A request.


MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  We would go agree to do that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. LANNI:  I will mark that as Undertaking J1.5, and that is a review of 5175.  Did you mention another account?

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE REVIEW OF ACCOUNT 5175.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I only mentioned the accounts that he mentioned, so...


It has to do with the KTI census fees, and in particular, just tracking down to make sure that the error that was reported in Board Staff Interrogatory No. 15(a) wasn't included in the original evidence.  Thank you.


Then second, you talked with Mr. Aiken briefly about this.  It has to do with the process meter data costs, the third party -- that you are obtaining from a third-party provider.


And I will pull up a table, just for reference's sake.  So you can see here this is the same cost driver table that he referred you to in terms of the third-party service providers, and I have highlighted here the process meter data costs of 46,000.


You went through the description with him briefly.


Just to confirm, this activity is not something new.  This is something that you are doing now; correct?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you are doing it now through a variety of service providers, and I think the plan is to consolidate with one provider to do an end-to-end solution?


MR. CURTISS:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That is going to a cost a net of $46,000 more than what you are doing now?


MR. CURTISS:  Correct.  I think the missing piece in the equation - this was in our original application - was that there are costs in this particular line item before for internal resources.

So what we're doing is we're redirecting those resources elsewhere so that there is -- there is no savings in the sense that that person will be allocated somewhere else.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're suggesting that there is an unquantified amount of internal costs --


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- which are not being incurred because somebody is doing new work instead of this work?

MR. CURTISS:  Different work, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it hasn't been quantified?

MR. CURTISS:  No, it has not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Lanni.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Lanni

MR. LANNI:  Mr. Lanni is me, counsel to Board Staff.  And with me is Mr. Silvan Cheung, who is on Board Staff.

He is providing the panel with a 17-page document that we will call the Board Staff cross-examination compendium, and make that Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MR. LANNI:  If we could just turn to pages 1 and 2 of the compendium, these are an introduction of the applicant's pages 2 and 3 of Exhibit 4.

I see under the year 2011 throughout the table 4.1, reference is made to actuals.  I just wonder if the panel can clarify whether that is correct, or simply a typo and whether it should be budget or some other combination of both.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So what is your question, if you don't mind?

MR. LANNI:  Sure.  At pages 1 and 2 of the Board's exhibit, under the column for 2011, the first word is "actuals"; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  No, it is a typing...

MR. LANNI:  Okay.  That should say "budget"?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I would say forecast, budget forecast.

MR. LANNI:  Okay.  Or bridge?

And just for the purpose of cleaning up the table at the bottom of that page, some of the wording got cut off.  I wonder if you would be kind enough to finish the wording for the first two lines of that first column, "Test year versus most..."

MS. DOMOKOS.  "...recent audit year."

MR. LANNI:  And the next line?

MS. DOMOKOS:  "Last rate approval."

MR. LANNI:  Board-approved?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, yes.

MR. LANNI:  Okay, thank you.  If I could refer you to Board Staff IR No. 19, which is at page 8 of the Board Staff compendium, the table indicates that the budgeted compensation and benefit amount for 2012 is $1.641 million.

This represents an almost two-thirds increase over the 2006 amount of $985,581; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, it is.  I will do the math.

MR. LANNI:  And the number of full-time employee equivalents has increased during this period.  Can you explain by how many and why?

MR. CURTISS:  So you want from 2006 onward?

MR. LANNI:  Yes.

MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  So from 2006, I believe that -- it is in dollar signs here.  That's an error.  It should be 14-1/2 to -- 2012 test year is 18-1/2.

So this represents, as I stated earlier, one line maintainer, one accounting assistant, and I believe the other one is myself.  Previously the president and CEO was part of our parent company, NPI, and it isn't included in the FTE count.

MR. LANNI:  If you could turn to page 10 of the compendium, in response to a Board Staff IR, Grimsby wrote:

"Throughout the years from 2006 to late 2008 a period of instability occurred in the Finance Department with upheaval in the Director of Finance position.  During this period a number of different people held this position.  In October 2008 a new Director of Finance was hired and stability was attained.  However, in order to mitigate the risk, as experienced in the past, and lessen the work load to a reasonable level a new position, the Accounting Assistant, was created with the responsibilities to perform the day to day accounting functions."


My question is:  Since you hired the director of finance, please explain how the instability has improved; and, if it has improved, do you still require an accounting assistant to mitigate risk of instability?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Because of the overload in the past - so I'm talking of before the accounting assistant was hired - the day-by-day activity of the director of finance was more and less doing journal entries, doing the -- keep going and try to reach the deadlines.

So it was no analysis what we are doing, if it is correct, if it is not correct.  It was no time for update all the rules, the new rules, and all that you have to complain with.

It was a problem with our auditors, because it was no segregation of duties.  The same person who did the journal entries did the reconciliation, the financial statements, the budget from A to Z, and then it is no segregation of duties.

Somebody is doing the interest to the bank statements, cannot do the reconciliation for the bank statements.

So it was another issue that trigger the necessity to hire a new person.

So more or less, we didn't have the chance to look where the variances are, what we are doing, if it's correct, if it is incorrect.  It was only reach the deadline, do the filing with OEB, finish the audit, and it was not quality in the work that was done.

MR. LANNI:  I had a number of questions with respect to the third party service providers.  Each of the intervening parties asked questions on that and I don't think I will repeat my -- or ask my questions and repeat theirs, but something came up this morning that I did find interesting.  And I will refer you to page 13 of Exhibit K1.2, and that is Energy Probe's compendium.

In the applicant's opening submissions, some time was given to the OM&A cost per FTE and how it compared within the cohort very favourably.

I take a look at that table, 4.2, and I see that in 2006 the Board-approved number of customers was 11,915, and the 2006 actuals is at 9,468.  Since 2006, it has increased by about 150 customers per year up until 2010, '11 and '12, when now for 2011 and 2012, the increases are in the amount of 200 or so.


I just wonder if you can explain the drop-off from 2006 Board-approved to actual.


MR. CURTISS:  We would have to look into that.  I really don't have any kind of explanation for that one.  It is almost six years ago now, and neither one of us was there, so we would have to dig to find out what drove that number.


MR. LANNI:  Okay.  If I could make that undertaking J1.6, and that is for an explanation for the drop from 2006 Board-approved to 2006 actual in the number of customers as referenced in table 4.2.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Lanni, I am a bit concerned that Mr. Curtiss indicated they would have to dig into this.  Neither witness was present at the time.


Is this really something that is material to your submissions, which we are still hoping to get tomorrow?


MR. LANNI:  Well, let me give a follow-up question then, and I guess the response to that might provide an answer to your question.


I guess my question to the panel, the witness panel, is -- you know, is it possible that the forecast of 2011 and 2012 might not equal the actual?


How -- I mean, on what basis is the forecast for 2011, 2012 number of customers being made?


MR. CURTISS:  Well, the number of customers are based on the load forecast model.


MR. LANNI:  Okay.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, I am just looking at the settlement agreement, and my recollection is that load and customer forecasts are settled.


So I am not quite sure where Mr. Lanni is going with this.


MR. LANNI:  I was aware of that.  I won't ask any more questions with respect to load forecast, but I did just want to ask the panel that if the number of customers were less than forecast, the OM&A costs per customer would also increase.


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.  I believe that would be correct, mathematically, yes.


MR. LANNI:  So Madam Chair, we will not need that undertaking.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. LANNI:  If you could turn your attention to page 20 of the Board's compendium -- sorry.


If you could turn to page 15 of the Board Staff's compendium, you will see that Grimsby budgets a net increase in process meter data costs in the amount of 46... My apologies.


Grimsby provides a cost driver summary of the changes of third-party service providers for each year.  For 2012, Grimsby identifies a HR consultant cost for the amount of $26,880.  And Grimsby goes on to explain that:

"In 2012 the collective agreement between Grimsby Power Inc. and the Power Workers' Union will expire.  Grimsby Power Inc. has budgeted professional service to assist with negotiations.  In addition to this, a review of compensation will be conducted."


Did Grimsby budget any HR consultant costs prior to 2012?


MR. CURTISS:  No, none were budgeted prior, but keep in mind that there was only really a task-level budget in - starting in 2011.  Prior to that, there was no identification of individual projects or tasks within OM&A.


MR. LANNI:  Do you know when the review will begin?


MR. CURTISS:  The review, we would undertake that if the union requests it as part of our, you know, negotiations.


MS. HARE:  Can I just jump in?  I thought this was the compensation study that you talked about earlier today; is that correct?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, I believe it is.  It is all wrapped into that compensation...


MS. HARE:  But what I just heard you say, but maybe you misspoke and maybe I didn't hear it, where you said "if the union requests it," so if the union doesn't request a compensation study, you are not going to do it?  Or you are going to do it in any event?


MR. CURTISS:  This is from a pay equity perspective.  We're not going to undertake that unless we are asked to do one.  And we believe that the PWU has been asking utilities to undertake that request.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Well, let me help you out here.


By law, aren't you required to do a pay equity study?  Anyway, I think it is a bit of a red herring.  It's --


MR. CURTISS:  I can't answer that.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  Let's move on.


MR. LANNI:  Board Staff has no further questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


I just have one question.  I want to make sure that I have the dates right.

Questions from the Board


MS. HARE:  And Ms. Domokos, you corrected the 2011 aren't actuals, because of course the year isn't over.  You called it a forecast, and there is maybe a subtle difference in the regulatory terminology how we use "forecast" versus "budget."


"Budget" is normally what you do in the beginning of the year, with no adjustment.


"Forecast," you take, let's say, three months' actuals and add in the budget.


So first question to you is:  Is the year May 1 till April 30th for 2011?  You are now asking for a January 1st rate here, but when you put forward 2011, whether or not it is a forecast or a budget, would that be May 1 to April 30th?


MS. DOMOKOS:  For the rate application, we put the budgeted numbers, which means January 1st to December 31st.


MS. HARE:  So all the numbers that we're looking at are already January 1st to December 31st?


MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  And then to my question about is it a budget or a forecast?


MS. DOMOKOS:  It's a budget.


MS. HARE:  It's a budget?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


What we propose to do is take a lengthy break to enable you to work on the undertakings.  Some of them, we think, were really checking the numbers and looking at some -- you know, whether the math was correct.


So we have five undertakings.  We're hoping that if we come back at 3:30, you will have some of those completed, and, Mr. Sidlofsky, that we could hear your argument-in-chief.


Are there any comments about that?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Subject to my earlier comments to the effect that Grimsby does -- will need an appropriate period in which to answer all of those undertakings.  I am not sure they will be able to deal with all of them this afternoon.


MS. HARE:  But maybe we can get some of them and get a better estimate as to how long it will take?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.  I don't have a lengthy argument-in-chief.  I would be prepared to make my comments this afternoon.


MS. HARE:  Good, thank you.  So let's resume at 3:30, then.  Were there any other comments from any other parties?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, I also have no questions on re-direct.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Oh, thank you.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry, I would like only to clarify the $36,000.  That one, the way that it is calculated on the cost-of-service application, it is included the property tax.  So each year the difference is plus the property tax, so -- the $36,000.


MS. HARE:  Does that lead to any other questions, or that's fine?  Okay, thank you.  So we will resume at 3:30.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


First thing that we would like to understand is the status of the undertaking responses.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, I can tell you that Grimsby Power staff have been trying very hard to prepare answers to the undertaking responses in the time provided.  What I can tell you is that they are -- they're in a position to give the Board a response to Undertaking J1.5, the review of account 5175.


They have simply found that they can't provide the answers to J1.1 through J1.4 here.  They need to go back and review their records at the office.


Unfortunately -- well, not unfortunately, but the fact simply is that the material that they need to prepare those answers isn't with them now.  And the people who are able to analyze the information in order to provide those answers are here now.


So perhaps it is a testament to the fact that Grimsby's quite leanly staffed, but unfortunately the people with the expertise to deal with those -- to deal with those questions are here.


So this brings us to an issue about how we move forward.  I am certainly prepared to make my comments this afternoon.


I expect that Grimsby will need a couple of days to prepare those answers, and they are prepared to provide them in writing to the parties.


MS. HARE:  That's a problem, as you can appreciate.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I do appreciate that.


MS. HARE:  We set aside two days for the hearing, so this is a problem.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand that, Madam Chair.  I am not sure -- well, I have a couple of possibilities to propose.


One would be that -- and I will leave argument-in-chief aside, because as I said, I am prepared to make my comments this afternoon -- but one option would be to set another day, if there is one available, before -- well, within the next week.


MS. HARE:  There is not another day available.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The other possibility would be written submissions from the intervenors and from the utility.


Frankly, I am a bit concerned with the prospect of submissions from the intervenors that go, in a great deal of depth, into the minutiae of the items that are outstanding.  I am a little concerned about a couple of hours of turnaround time in order to prepare reply to those items, but if need be, I can deal with that.


But one possibility would be written submissions from the intervenors, perhaps in the week of January 12th, I believe, and our reply submission the week of the 19th.


The reason I mention those dates is because I know that with the -- excuse me, the Guelph Hydro proceeding, the Board has scheduled similar dates; Guelph Hydro is also asking for January 1st implementation.


Unfortunately, Madam Chair, Grimsby simply can't get the answers for you any sooner than that.  If we are not sitting tomorrow, they will be working all day tomorrow to prepare those answers for you.


MS. HARE:  Are there any comments from the other parties?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we just heard about this just shortly before you came in, so we haven't had a chance, really, to talk about it.


Would it be appropriate if we had five minutes without the Board here, to talk about it amongst the parties, and see whether we can find a solution that is more consistent with the Board's schedule?


MS. HARE:  Yes, that would be fine.  We will take a break, but just so that everybody understands, other than tomorrow there is no other date that is available until January.


The settlement agreement did contemplate effective date of January 1st, but I would hate to think that that is the reason to prolong this.  And we are only talking about one issue, but one big important issue.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It is one of the issues in the application.


MS. HARE:  Okay.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE: First thing in the morning we heard there might be some kind of tangential issues related to OM&A, and maybe when you take the break you can confirm with us whether or not those are on the table, or not.  Okay?  Does that make sense?  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 3:40 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:53 p.m.

MS. HARE:   Please be seated.


So has a proposed schedule been agreed to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we discussed it at the break, and the company has agreed to provide the undertakings by the end of the day on Wednesday.


Intervenors and Board Staff would provide written argument, and that argument is limited to the OM&A number - there are no external connecting issues, if you like - on Friday, and next Tuesday reply argument would be filed by the company, if that is acceptable to the Board.


MS. HARE:  That is acceptable to the Board.  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


As I said before the short break, Grimsby Power is prepared to provide its answer to Undertaking J1.5, but I am thinking if the package is being provided on Wednesday, it may be appropriate to simply include the answer to 1.5 in the written package of responses.  I believe Mr. Buonaguro is all right with that.


MS. HARE:  I see some heads shaking yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I got an off-the-record preview and I can work with it, and then they can do it officially in writing, if they like.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Aiken, you are okay with that?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, that's fine.


MS. HARE:  And, Mr. Shepherd?  Yes.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, you are ready with your argument-in-chief?

Final Argument by Mr. Sidlofsky


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am.  I will try to avoid, to the extent I can, repetition with my opening comments this morning, so I will try to make this brief.


As I did mention this morning, though, on the basis of the revenue requirement work form that was filed by Grimsby Power as part of the settlement proposal, customer bill impacts are 3.71 percent for a residential customer consuming 800 kilowatt hours -- 800 kilowatt hours of electricity per month, and 1.02 percent for a GS-under-50 kilowatt customer consuming 2,000 kilowatt hours of electricity per month.


And I would note -- sorry, as I mentioned this morning, as well, that translates into a 10.95 percent distribution impact for residential and a negative 0.34 percent impact for GS-under-50.


Those impacts would decline slightly as a result of the approximately $84,000 in reductions that -- in OM&A that Ms. Domokos identified this morning, which were not incorporated into that revenue requirement work form.


Grimsby Power submits that even at the level of OM&A used for the preparation of appendix J to the settlement proposal, the impacts resulting from the application are reasonable.


I mentioned earlier the parties have agreed that the effective date will be January 1st and the Board has approved that in the settlement proposal, and that if the rates can't be implemented for January 1st, then Grimsby Power will calculate a rate rider as part of its draft rate order for the recovery of difference between incremental Board-approved revenue and its revenue at existing rates for those months in which the new rates aren't in effect.


Now moving on to the outstanding issues, there are three.  And, as Mr. Shepherd indicated, there are no other connecting issues that will be dealt with.


So just to reiterate, those three issues are issue 4.1:

"Is the overall OM&A forecast for the test year appropriate?"


Issue 4.2:

"Are the methodologies used to allocate shared services and other costs appropriate?"


And issue 4.4:

"Are the 2012 compensation costs and employee levels appropriate?"


As a general comment, Grimsby Power submits that all of these questions should be answered in the affirmative.  Grimsby Power has some more particular comments at this time, as well, and intends to reply to any Board Staff and intervenor submissions.  Now that reply will be scheduled for next Tuesday.


With respect to issue 4.1, "Is the overall OM&A forecast for the test year appropriate?", with the adjustments mentioned by Ms. Domokos this morning, Grimsby Power's requested OM&A amount is $2,375,758 on a CGAAP basis.


Now, Grimsby Power's OM&A claim is supported by the evidence at Exhibit 4 of the application, and Grimsby Power's explanation of the cost drivers underlying increases in OM&A for the 2012 test year begins at page 18 of Exhibit 4.


Mr. Curtiss also discussed a number of the drivers in his evidence-in-chief, and specifically he mentioned five items.  I should note that the dollar values that I will refer to represent increases from 2010, Grimsby Power's last complete year.


Staffing costs have increased by 189,000, and this represents, compared to 2010, the addition of two employees, bringing Grimsby Power's staff complement to 18.5.


These employees were hired in 2011, and 2012 costs reflect the full payroll and benefits over the 12-month period.  I will have a couple of comments about these two employees, a line maintainer and an accounting assistant, in a few moments in the context of issue 4.4.


As Mr. Curtiss discussed this morning, this increase also reflects changes in how CDM is managed and increasing costs related to the finance and regulatory analyst.  You will recall that that individual's role has changed from predominantly supporting Grimsby Power's CDM activities with almost 100 percent of that employee's costs covered by the OPA's CDM funding mechanism, to the current situation in which that person is focussed on the financial and regulatory analysis with only 25 percent of that person's costs covered by OPA CDM funds; second, changes in Grimsby's allocation policy with an impact of approximately $154,000 over 2010.


As Mr. Curtiss noted, prior to 2011, costs associated with the director of engineering, the line superintendent, information technology and engineering training costs were allocated between OM&A and capital.


In management's review of allocations during the 2010 budget process, it was determined that these costs were better aligned to OM&A amounts -- excuse me to OM&A accounts, because costs were not necessarily related to specific jobs or projects.


Third, smart meter system costs, $51,000 over 2010 after certain adjustments for the removal of MDM/R costs and the correction of KTI/census meter fees addressed in Grimsby Power's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 15(a).


As Mr. Curtiss indicated in his evidence-in-chief, these costs flow from Grimsby Power's mandatory move to ^time of use pricing, and costs have been determined using rigourous evaluation processes.  Those processes are described beginning at Exhibit 9, page 19 of the application.


As Mr. Curtiss noted, these costs relate to AMI software support, including new functionality, KTI/census meter transaction fees and TGB fees.


Fourth, third party service providers, $115, over 2010.  Support for Grimsby's claim can be found at page 20 of Exhibit 4.  Grimsby Power submits that it's reasonable to expect that in a utility of its size, there are specialized functions that will not be available in-house and that its judicious use of third party service providers represents a cost-effective means of meeting the utility's needs.


Finally, the computer network and the Grimsby Power website at $28,600.  This includes costs for network security audit, website maintenance and upgrades to Internet bandwidth capacity.  As noted at page 23 of Exhibit 4, this is the first update of the website in several years.


As the Board can see in table 4.11, costs have not been incurred in these areas since 2006.  Grimsby Power submits that it's appropriate that a small amount of money be spent to ensure that its customers have access to a modern, secure website.


The new website, which, as Mr. Curtiss indicated this morning, is going live this week, is more focussed on the customer and provides customers with access to online forms and increased information about smart meters and time of use pricing.


As Mr. Curtiss testified, GPI's proposed OM&A expenditures for 2012 will allow it to bring its practices into line with established base of practices as used by Ontario LDCs, and Grimsby Power submits that the proposed OM&A expenditures are necessary to enable Grimsby to fulfil its objective of operating a safe, reliable and efficient electrical distribution system for its customers.


As for issue 4.2, "Are the methodologies used to allocate shared services and other costs appropriate?", Grimsby Power's methodology for allocating shared services and other costs and the costs themselves are set out at pages 32 to 39 of Exhibit 4.


The methodologies are discussed beginning at page 37.  Grimsby Power believes that they are appropriate, and it is not aware of Board Staff or intervenor issues with its methodology or calculations, and will await comments from Staff and intervenors in their submissions.


On issue 4.4, "Are the 2012 compensation costs and employee levels appropriate?", Grimsby Power's discussion of its compensation costs and staffing levels begins at page 40 of Exhibit 4.


Grimsby's table of employee compensation and benefits, table 4.24 in the application, corresponding to appendix 2K in the Board's filing requirements is at page 43 of Exhibit 4.


Grimsby will await Board Staff and intervenor comments on this issue, but in the meantime, Grimsby Power submits that its compensation and staffing levels are appropriate, I have just a couple of comments on this point at this time.


First, as is clear from table 4.24, Grimsby Power will have added only two employees since 2010, Grimsby Power's new line maintainer and accounting assistant.  Both of those are union positions.  And Grimsby Power submits that this approach reflects a focus on ensuring that its customers are benefiting from a reliable, well maintained distribution system.


Second, in looking at the two new positions reflected in the test year OM&A, both of which were hired this year, Grimsby Power submits that these additions to its staff complement relate to key utility functions, and are clearly appropriate.


The additional line maintainer position brings Grimsby's complement of line maintainers to four, and makes self-constructed projects and OM&A activities more efficient.  It allows for less onerous on-call requirements for line crews, and it creates the opportunity for two line crews to serve Grimsby Power's customers when appropriate.  This is a clear improvement over its prior three-person approach.  It also allows for improved succession planning, and it reduces the need for third -party line contractors by an equivalent FTE.


The accounting system position, which began as a temporary position in 2010 adds stability to the finance department.


As Mr. Curtiss indicated, prior to the hiring of an accounting assistant, Ms. Domokos, as the director of finance, was solely responsible for all accounting and regulatory tasks for the utility, with no support.


In light of the regulatory and accounting obligations placed on all licensed Ontario distributors, Grimsby Power submits that it's reasonable and appropriate that there be support for the director of finance.


To summarize, Grimsby Power submits that its OM&A forecast, its allocation of services, and its staffing and compensation levels for the 2012 test year are reasonable and appropriate, and should be approved by the Board.


The proposed OM&A expenditures will bring Grimsby Power's practices into line with the established basic practices used by other Ontario LDCs, and Grimsby Power submits that the proposed OM&A expenditures are necessary to enable Grimsby to fulfil its objective of operating a safe, reliable and efficient electrical distribution system for its customers.


Those are my comments in-chief.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Do you have any questions?


As the Board has accepted the settlement agreement, which made rates effective as of January 1st, the Board now orders that the rates are declared interim as of January 1st.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  We would like to thank the Grimsby witnesses.  Your testimony was very helpful to the Board Panel.


And thank you to the court reporter.


And we are now adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:05 p.m.
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